A. Introduction 

A jury awarded petitioner Kim Gerlach damages for a life

altering traumatic brain injury suffered when the wood railing of the 

balcony of an apartment owned and managed by respondent 

Weidner Property Management LLC gave way because it was 

compromised by unexamined and uncorrected rot, and Gerlach fell 

to the concrete sidewalk two stories below. Gerlach admitted she was 

under the influence of alcohol when the railing failed, and the trial 

court exercised its discretion to exclude the results of a blood alcohol 

test that did not meet state toxicologist's standards. Weidner argued 

to the jury that Gerlach's voluntary intoxication was the primary 

cause of her injuries. After being instructed to consider Gerlach's 

intoxication, the jury assigned 7% comparative fault to her. 

This Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals' 

published decision reversing the jury's verdict. The Court of Appeals 

erred in holding 1) that a blood alcohol test that lacked the statutory 

foundation for admissibility in court proceedings must as a matter of 

law be admitted into evidence, 2) that the trial court committed 

reversible error in excluding expert testimony that did no more than 

tell the jury that Gerlach's admitted intoxication likely impaired her 

judgment, and 3) that Gerlach lacked standing to assert the landlord's 

breach of its warranty of habitability under the Residential Landlord 
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Tenant Act as a basis for tort liability because, although she lived in 

the apartment, she had not signed the lease and was not a "tenant." 

B. Court of Appeals Decision. 

The Court of Appeals filed its published decision on March 18, 

2019 (App. A), and entered its order changing the last paragraph of 

the opinion (but not the result) on May 13, 2019 (App. B). Gerlach v. 

Cove Apartments, LLC, _ Wn. App. 2d _, 437 P.3d 690 (2019) 

(cited herein as "Op."), opinion withdrawn and superseded on 

reconsideration,_ Wn. App. 2d _, _ P.3d _, 2019 WL 2083307 

(May 13, 2019) 

C. Issues Presented for Review. 

1. In a civil case in which the defendant invokes RCW 

5-40.06o's intoxication defense and the plaintiff admits she was 

intoxicated when she was injured, does a trial court have the 

discretion to exclude the result of a hospital blood draw that did not 

comply with the State toxicologist's standards for a blood alcohol 

concentration test ("BAC") under RCW 46.61.506, as well as expert 

testimony based on that unverified result? 

2. The defendant was able to and did argue that the 

plaintiffs admitted intoxication caused her injury when she fell over 

the rotten second-story balcony railing of defendant's apartment 

complex. The jury, which was instructed to consider plaintiffs 
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voluntary intoxication, necessarily did so in allocating fault to the 

plaintiff. Was the trial court's exclusion of the unverified results of a 

hospital blood draw so prejudicial that defendant is entitled to a new 

trial based on this claimed evidentiary error? 

3. May a tenant's fiance, who is injured due to an unsafe 

condition on the premises while living with the tenant who signed 

the lease, claim damages under Restatement (Second) of Property: 

Landlord and Tenant§ 17.6 (1977) based on the landlord's breach of 

the Residential Landlord Tenant Act's statutory warranty of 

habitability? 

D. Statement of the Case. 

1. Gerlach suffered a traumatic brain injury when 
she fell from the Cove's second-story balcony 
because Weidner failed to replace a rotten 
wooden railing. 

Petitioner Kim Gerlach lived with her fiance in a second floor 

unit of respondent the Cove Apartments, a 32-unit, building complex 

constructed in 1987 and owned and maintained by respondent 

Weidner Property Management LLC. (RP 1231, 2309) Though 

Weidner's inspection when it purchased the Cove in 2010 revealed 

that every single building had areas of wood rot (RP 1241-42; Ex. 28), 

it discontinued its seller's practice of annually replacing a number of 

railings and balconies, and replaced wooden elements in the complex 
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only when their deteriorated condition became obvious. (RP 876-77) 

By autumn 2012, Weidner had repaired wood rot to the stairway and 

railing area immediately below Gerlach's apartment, but not to her 

unit's balcony or railing. (RP 958-60) 

On October 27, 2012, after returning from dinner and drinks 

with friends, Ms. Gerlach fell from her balcony when its rotted railing

gave way. (See RP 712-13, 716-18) Her companions, the investigating 

police officer, and the first responder all reported the railing failed to 

support her weight and "snapped" when Gerlach (age 28, and 125 

pounds) leaned against it. (RP 716-18, 1439-41, 1458-59, 1487-88, 

2542, 2551-52; Exs. 135, 138) An examination of the balcony railing 

showed that the screws attaching it to the badly rotted wooden 

bulkhead had rusted at the bottom of their metal supports. (Exs. 36, 

54, App. C; RP 2084-85) 

Gerlach suffered multiple skull fractures, brain hemorrhage, 

and brain swelling that required brain surgery and temporary 

removal of a portion of her skull. (RP 1381-90) She was unconscious 

and unresponsive when paramedics arrived and she was taken to 

Harborview Hospital. (RP 1420, 2452-53) While Gerlach was being 

treated, Harborview took a blood draw to test for various substances, 

including alcohol, that showed a blood alcohol level of .238. (See RP 

1540-41) There was no evidence that Harborview's blood draw 
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conformed to the state toxicologist's standards for a blood alcohol 

concentration test ("BAC") admissible under RCW 46.61.506. 

2. The Court of Appeals reversed the judgment on 
the jury's verdict, which was reduced for 
Gerlach's contributory fault based on her 
admission that she was intoxicated, holding the 
trial court abused its discretion in excluding 
the unverified results of a hospital blood draw. 

Gerlach sued, alleging breach of Weidner's common law duty 

to invitees and its implied and statutory warranty of habitability 

under the Residential Landlord Tenant Act. (CP 1-8) Pursuant to 

RCW 5.40.060, Weidner alleged that Gerlach's voluntary 

intoxication was the proximate cause of her injuries, and that her 

comparative fault in excess of 50% should completely bar any 

recovery. (CP 312-14) The defense theory, supported by an accident 

reconstruction expert, was that Gerlach was trying to climb over the 

railing from outside the balcony when the railing failed. (Exs. 60-63; 

RP 2993-94, 3126-35) Weidner, however, did not contest and it was 

indisputable that the balcony railing gave way because of wood rot. 

Because the hospital blood draw did not comply with statutory 

standards for admissibility of BAC tests and its admission could 

confuse or prejudice the jury with speculative evidence, the trial 

court exercised its discretion to exclude the results of the blood test 

under ER 403 after Gerlach admitted that she was intoxicated, 
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instructing the jury that "Gerlach was under the influence of 

intoxicating liquor at the time of the accident." (RP 1355-56, 1556-

57, 1560-62, 2799-2800) The trial court also excluded Weidner's 

toxicologist from testifying that that "anyone" with Gerlach's blood 

alcohol level would be severely impaired, and limited Weidner's 

reconstruction expert's speculation about "how the plaintiff was 

acting immediately before she fell." (RP 1562-63) 

The trial court instructed the jury that Weidner owed Gerlach 

the common law duty of care owed to an invitee by an owner and 

occupier of land and, separately, as a landlord under the Residential 

Landlord-Tenant Act ("RLTA"), including the duty to refrain from 

creating "an actual or potential safety hazard" and to use ordinary 

care to discover and repair a dangerous condition that violates health 

and safety regulations. (Instr. Nos. 10-15, CP 1870-75) The trial 

court also instructed the jury to consider Gerlach's intoxication in 

allocating fault. (Instr. No. 20, CP 1880) 

In closing argument, Weidner relied on its expert's 

reconstruction to argue that Gerlach was trying to climb over the 

balcony railing (RP 3626-33), cited Gerlach's "admission to being 

intoxicated," told the jury that "you have been instructed that she was 

intoxicated that night," and that Gerlach's voluntary intoxication 

impaired her judgment and caused her to "climb[] over in a state when 
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she was ... compromised." (RP 3639, 3641-43) Weidner argued that 

Gerlach "put herself at risk as a consequence of being intoxicated that 

night. ... Ms. Gerlach was negligent. She was voluntarily intoxicated." 

(RP 3641-42) The jury's verdict, which did not distinguish between 

the two theories of liability, found Weidner 93% negligent and 

Gerlach 7% negligent. (CP 1890) After deducting for Gerlach's 

comparative fault, the trial court entered judgment against Weidner 

for $3,533,808.22. (CP 1906) 

The Court of Appeals reversed, holding that the trial court 

abused its discretion by excluding evidence of Gerlach's blood alcohol 

level, excluding expert testimony that "a BAC of .238 make[s] it less 

likely that she could safely stand on a balcony or climb over a railing," 

and that the ruling deprived Weidner of "the opportunity to present 

evidence on a key factual issue: whether Gerlach was predominantly 

liable for her injuries due to her level of intoxication." (Op. ,r,r 12, 13) 

The Court further held that the trial court erred in "instructing the jury 

that Cove could be liable to Gerlach for a violation of the RLTA" 

because "Gerlach was not a tenant." (Op. ,r 45) On reconsideration, 

the Court of Appeals limited its remand and new trial to the issue of 

liability and allocation of fault. (App. B) 
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E. Argument Why Review Should be Granted. 

The Court of Appeals' published decision conflicts with this 

Court's cases limiting appellate review of discretionary evidentiary 

decisions, is contrary to RCW 46.61.502 and .506, and raises an issue 

of substantial public interest under the RLTA. 

1. The Court of Appeals erred in holding that the 
trial court lacked the discretion to exclude the 
results of a hospital blood draw that did not 
comply with statutory standards for a BAC. 

The Court of Appeals erred in reversing the jury's verdict and 

granting a new trial based on the trial court's discretionary 

evidentiary rulings, holding that the results of an unverified hospital 

blood draw and "expert" testimony on the effects of alcohol on 

"anyone" were both admissible as a matter of law and that the trial 

court had no discretion to exclude the evidence. The Court of 

Appeals' published decision not only contravenes RCW 46.61.506, 

but eliminates entirely the deference given trial courts in deciding 

the admissibility of evidence. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4). 

The trial court has broad discretion in ruling on the 

admissibility of opinion evidence and in balancing the probative 

value of evidence against its potential to unfairly prejudice the jury. 

Hill v. C. & E. Const. Co., 59 Wn.2d 743, 746, 370 P.2d 255 (1962); 

Industrial Indemnity Co. v. Kallevig, 114 Wn.2d 907, 926, 792 P.2d 

8 



520 (1990). This Court will reverse the appellate court's grant of a 

new trial based on evidentiary rulings when the Court of Appeals fails 

to recognize that "[a] reviewing court may not find abuse of 

discretion simply because it would have decided the case differently 

- it must be convinced that 'no reasonable person would take the 

view adopted by the trial court."' Gilmore v. Jefferson Cty. Pub. 

Transportation Benefit Area, 190 Wn.2d 483, 494, ,i 17, 415 P.3d 212 

(2018) (emphasis added). 

Different "courts can reasonably reach different conclusions" 

concerning the admissibility of evidence without manifestly abusing 

a court's discretion. LM by and through Dussault v. Hamilton, 193 

Wn.2d 113,136, ,i 49,436 P.3d 803 (2019). The appellate court must 

affirm the trial court's discretionary exclusion of evidence "on any 

proper basis within the record ... [; it] will not be reversed simply 

because the trial court gave a wrong or insufficient reason for its 

determination." State v. Markle, 118 Wn.2d 424, 438, 823 P.2d 1101 

(1992). The Court of Appeals' refusal here to recognize and respect 

the trial court's authority to weigh the probative value of the results 

of an unverified blood alcohol test against its potential for confusing 

the jury conflicts with this established precedent. 

Gerlach' s admission she was intoxicated satisfied the first 

' 
prong of Weidner's intoxication defense under RCW 5.40.060(1): 
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that Gerlach "was [1] under the influence of intoxicating liquor ... at 

the time of the occurrence causing the injury." In addition, Weidner 

had to prove "[2] that such condition was a proximate cause of the 

injury . . . and . . . [3] . . . [plaintiff was] more than fifty percent at 

fault." The Court of Appeals erred in holding that the trial court 

lacked discretion under ER 403 to exclude the unverified blood 

alcohol test result and related expert testimony after weighing the 

relevance of a hospital blood draw that did not comply with the state 

toxicologist's standards against its prejudicial impact with respect to 

these second and third elements. 

The statute defines "intoxication" by incorporating the 

standards "established for criminal convictions [for driving while 

intoxicated] under RCW 46.61.502." RCW 5-40.060(1); see State v. 

Peralta, 191 Wn. App. 931, 945-46, ,i,i 27-28, 366 P.3d 45 (2015) 

(proof of intoxication under RCW 5.40.060 requires proof that the 

plaintiff was under the influence under the standard established by 

RCW 46.61.502), reversed on other grounds, 187 Wn.2d 888, 389 

P.3d 596 (2017). RCW 46.61.502, in turn, provides two means of 

proving intoxication. The first, RCW 46.61.502(1)(a), provides that 

a BAC of .08 "as shown by analysis of the person's breath or blood 

made under RCW 46.61.506" pursuant to standards approved by the 
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state toxicologist is evidence of intoxication.1 RCW 46.61.502(1)(c) 

alternatively provides (in somewhat circular fashion) that a person is 

guilty of driving while under the influence "[w]hile the person is 

under the influence of or affected by intoxicating liquor ... ". 

The Court of Appeals referred to these two alternative means 

as the "per se" standard for intoxication (because a BAC that complies 

with the statutory standard is per se admissible), and the "non-per-se 

method." (Op. ,i 17, citing State v. Donahue, 105 Wn. App. 67, 76-77, 

18 P.3d 608, rev. denied, 144 Wn.2d 1010 (2001)) However, the Court 

of Appeals then erroneously failed to distinguish between the 

methods, holding as a matter of law that the result of an unverified 

hospital blood draw is always admissible in a civil case in which the 

defense alleges the plaintiffs intoxication as a complete defense to 

liability. Its analysis fails to give effect to each and every provision of 

1 RCW 46.61.506(3) provides: 

Analysis of the person's blood or breath to be considered valid 
under the provisions of this section or RCW 46.61.502 or 
46.61.504 shall have been performed according to methods 
approved by the state toxicologist and by an individual 
possessing a valid permit issued by the state toxicologist for 
this purpose. 

In addition to setting forth the qualifications for individuals to obtain a BAC 
permit, WAC 448-14-030, the state toxicologist has established rigorous 
"analytic procedure" in order to obtain a valid BAC, including a "control test," 
a "blank test," and a "duplicate analysis that agrees within plus or minus 10 
percent of their mean." WAC 448-14-020(1). The hospital blood draw at issue 
in this case was not performed by a BAC-permitted individual, and did not 
meet these procedures. 
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the statute, rendering the requirement of compliance with state 

toxicology standards in RCW 46.61.502(1)(a) superfluous. Svendsen 

v. Stock, 143 Wn.2d 546, 555, 23 P.3d 455 (2001) (court must give 

effect to all portions of the statute and to render no portion 

meaningless or superfluous). 

Nor do the cases cited by the Court of Appeals support its 

decision that the trial court had no discretion to exclude the results of a 

blood hospital draw that could not establish intoxication "per se" under 

RCW 46.61.502(1)(a), on the grounds that after Gerlach stipulated to 

intoxication "the evidence was still relevant to prove the extent to which 

her intoxication proximately caused her injuries." (Op. ,i 12) In State 

v. Peralta, 187 Wn.2d 888, 389 P.3d 596 (2017) (Op. ,i 11), this Court 

affirmed the trial court's discretion to instruct the jury to consider the 

plaintiffs admission under CR 36 that she was intoxicated, where a 

hospital blood draw showed a .167 blood alcohol level. 187 Wn.2d at 

900-01, ,i 22; See Peralta, 191 Wn. App. at 939, ,i 11. 

Donahue, which the Court of Appeals cites for the proposition 

"that evidence of intoxication from an Oregon hospital blood alcohol 

test that did not comply with RCW 46.61.506 standards was admissible 

to prove a non-per-se offense under RCW 46.61.502," (Op. ,i 17), 

affirmed admission of a BAC based on foundational testimony by the 

Washington State Toxicologist that Oregon's test was no less reliable 
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than Washington's. Donahue, 105 Wn. App. at 70. Division Two held 

that although the results were not admissible under the per se standard 

of RCW 46.61.502(1)(a), the results of such a "medical draw'' could be 

admitted under the non-per se standard, subject to the defendant's 

right to "attack the accuracy and reliability of the technique or method 

used in analyzing the blood alcohol level and whether it meets the 

standards of ER 702 and ER 703." 105 Wn. App. at 74. 

Given that the test here was not admissible per se, the trial court 

was entitled to weigh the marginal relevance of the numerical result and 

Weidner's expert testimony that the unverified result of the hospital 

blood draw would result in "severe psychomotor impairment" under 

ER 403. The trial court could reasonably conclude that the resulting 

diversion during this 15-day trial into a mini-trial on the reliability of 

the hospital blood draw results under RCW 46.61.502(1)(c) was 

unnecessary once Gerlach stipulated to her intoxication when she was 

injured. See RP 1537-40 (voir dire of expert on science of blood testing 

and alcohol metabolism). See State v. Donald, 178 Wn. App. 250, 271, 

,r 42, 316 P .3d 1081 (2013) ("reasonable concern about the confusion 

of issues and possible delay" a valid basis for trial court's discretion to 

exclude expert testimony on victim's alleged mental illness under ER 

403), rev. denied, 180 Wn.2d 1010 (2014). 

13 



The trial court was also justifiably concerned that the 

probative value of the result of the hospital blood draw on the issue 

of causation was outweighed by its potential for prejudice. (RP 1561-

63) Given that intoxication "in and of itself would not constitute 

negligence," Lubliner v. Ruge, 21 Wn. 2d 881, 884, 153 P.2d 694, 696 

(1944), Weidner had no basis to argue that an increased level of 

intoxication, or a particular "number" from an unverified hospital 

blood draw, could increase the amount of Gerlach's negligence. 

Instead, Weidner sought to admit the unverified test result for the 

jury to pass moral judgment on Gerlach by giving undue weight to a 

number that, standing alone, had minimal relevance to whether 

Gerlach' s admitted intoxication actually caused the railing to fail. 

(See RP 1562-63) 

As the trial court recognized, if Gerlach made a "bad decision 

to climb over the railing, the fact that she was intoxicated may 

explain the bad decision" (RP 50-51), but the degree of Gerlach's 

intoxication based on an unverified test result had little relevance to 

the question of what would cause the railing to fail under the weight 

of a 125-pound woman - be she drunk or sober, and whether she was 

leaning, standing, or climbing on the rotten railing. (RP 1562) The 

average juror understands as a matter of common knowledge that 

alcohol impairs a person's judgment and coordination. State v. 
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Smissaert, 41 Wn. App. 813, 815, 706 P.2d 647, rev. denied, 104 Wn.2d 

1026 (1985) (affirming exclusion of expert testimony on effects of 

alcohol as within common understanding). The trial court was thus 

fully justified in excluding speculative expert testimony "equating 

what Ms. Gerlach did based on the amount of alcohol she consumed," 

while allowing Weidner to repeatedly argue to the jury that Gerlach' s 

voluntary intoxication was a proximate cause of her fall. (RP 1332-

33) 

Rather than deferring to the trial court's exercise of discretion 

to weigh the relevance of evidence against its prejudicial impact, the 

Court of Appeals established a rule that requires the result of an 

unverified hospital blood draw to be admitted, irrespective of the 

circumstances, whenever a defendant raises an intoxication defense. 

Its decision conflicts with this Court's precedent and presents a 

matter of substantial public interest. RAP 13-4(b)(1), (4). 

2. The Court of Appeals erred in disregarding the 
jury's allocation of fault when it held that 
Weidner was prejudiced as a matter of law by 
the trial court's evidentiary ruling. , 

Only error that prejudicially affected the jury's verdict justifies 

a new trial. Blaney v. Int'l Ass'n of Machinists, 151 Wn.2d 203, 211, 

87 P.3d 757 (2004); Hizey v. Carpenter, 119 Wn.2d 251, 269-70, 830

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