FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/8/2019 12:19 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97325-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KIMBERLY J. GERLACH, individually,

Petitioner,

v.

THE COVE APARTMENTS, LLC, a Washington corporation; and WEIDNER PROPERTY MANAGEMENT, LLC, a Washington corporation,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Pauline V. Smetka, WSBA #11183 Helsell Fetterman LLP 1001 Fourth Avenue #4200 Seattle, WA 98154-1154 (206) 292-1144 Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Respondents

A. INTRODUCTION

In the early morning hours of October 27, 2012, after a night of heavy drinking to the point that Kimberly Gerlach's blood alcohol level ("BAC") was .238, almost three times the legal limit, Gerlach fell from outside her boyfriend's second-story apartment unit at the Cove Apartments in Federal Way, owned by Cove Apartments LLC and managed by Weidner Property Management LLC ("Cove"), to the walkway below.

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the trial court's handling of Gerlach's intoxication deprived Cove of anything resembling a fair trial on its RCW 5.40.060 defense when the trial court erred in its evidentiary decisions in connection with the defense and in instructing the jury on the law. Similarly, the trial court also erred in addressing the issues of any duty owed by Cove under the Residential Landlord Tenant Act, RCW 59.18 ("RTLA"). A new trial is necessary here.

This Court should deny review. RAP 13.4(b).

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division I correctly set forth the facts and procedure in its opinion.

Op. at 2-3. It is important to note that Gerlach omits *numerous* facts salient to this Court's review decision.

On the night of October 26, 2012, and into October 27, 2012,

Gerlach went out drinking with friends including Brodie and Colin Liddell¹ and her then-boyfriend, Nathan Miller. CP 1180. They drank to excess, to the point that Gerlach's BAC was .238, approximately three times the legal limit for driving. RP 219-44. After leaving the bar, Gerlach separated from Miller while he went to buy more alcohol, and she went to his apartment with Brodie. CP 1181.

Despite the discussion in her petition that she fell while leaning against the balcony railing, nobody saw Gerlach standing on the balcony or even enter the apartment. CP 1181. Brodie was the only one who witnessed the fall, but he saw her just before she hit the ground – he did not see her leaning against the balcony before the fall. RP 719. Gerlach herself suffered from retrograde amnesia and could not remember anything that happened the night of the accident. CP 1181; RP 2689. Gerlach did not have a key to Miller's apartment. CP 519. And the evidence showed that she never entered the apartment – the lights were off, the door was closed, and Gerlach was still wearing her coat, scarf and purse after the fall. RP 2384, 3005-06, 3059-64; Ex. 139.

Cove adduced evidence showing that Gerlach fell while negligently attempting to climb over the railing to enter the apartment

¹ Brodie Liddell and Colin Liddell are referred to by their first names for purposes of clarity; no disrespect is intended.

through a sliding door on the balcony, as she had done before. CP 1186. Miller told a neighbor that Gerlach must have been trying to climb over the railing because she did not have the apartment key. CP 518-19, 1182. In fact, when he first saw her on the ground he exclaimed, "Why did you do it? I was right behind you!" CP 1181-82.² This evidence plainly supported Cove's position. At trial, Cove's expert also explained why Gerlach's version of events was inconsistent with her landing position and the injuries she sustained. Rather, Gerlach was attempting to climb onto the balcony from the outside walkway. RP 2997-98, 3000-01.

Despite her retrograde amnesia and not remembering anything that happened the night of her accident, CP 1182, Gerlach asserts in her petition at 4 that she fell over and off of the apartment balcony. More specifically, she alleged that she entered Miller's apartment, went out on the balcony, and leaned against the balcony railing, causing it to give way. CP 1183. She pointed to the existence of rot in the cap to which the railing is secured and alleged that the rot was the sole proximate cause of her fall. *Id*.

The trial court refused to allow the neighbor to relate Miller's excited utterance to the jury. CP 1552. However, evidencing its less than even handed approach to the evidence, the court permitted Colin, over objection, to testify that Brodie told him at the scene that he saw Gerlach leaning on the balcony railing, as an excited utterance. RP 1485-88. This directly contradicted Brodie's sworn testimony that he *only* saw Gerlach land on the ground. RP 718. The trial court also allowed the admission of statements made by Brodie at the scene to officers as excited utterances. RP 1433-39.

However, Gerlach's petition ignores the fact that her version of events was vigorously disputed below for the reasons noted above. There was evidence that Gerlach never entered the apartment, and her landing position and injuries were inconsistent with a fall from the position she claims to have been in (*i.e.* standing on the balcony and leaning against the railing). Miller testified that he and Gerlach often leaned against the railings. RP 2407-09.

As for Gerlach's claim that her fall was caused by rot in the cap to which the railing was secured, an assertion she repeatedly makes in her petition, Cove management inspected the balcony railings once a year. Ex. 119, 125. Miller reviewed the apartment upon moving in. Ex. 112. There is no evidence that Cove actually knew of the rot in the cap or elsewhere on the apartment's balcony.

Cove moved for summary judgment on the duty owed by Cove as a landlord under the RLTA. CP 43-240. Gerlach largely did not contest that she was not a tenant, but instead asserted that Cove "waived" her non-tenant status by accepting some payments directly from her. CP 296-97. Cove's Crystal Hammond testified this was not unusual. CP 668. The trial court granted Cove's motion as to Gerlach's theory of recovery

arising out of the lease agreement,³ but denied the motion as to any RLTA claims on April 10, 2017. CP 676-77.

Gerlach's petition glosses over the trial court's failure to address the evidence of her intoxication, including its decision to either exclude or severely curtail admission of testimony from Cove's experts, Dr. Michael Carhart and Dr. Frank Vicenzi on the effects of her extreme intoxication. Gerlach moved to strike Cove's affirmative defenses, including her comparative fault, and to exclude any evidence of her intoxication, CP 305-53, a motion aggressively opposed by Cove. CP 778-858. The trial court denied the motion as to comparative fault generally in a May 16, 2017 order. CP 882-83. However, the trial court also precluded Dr. Carhart from testifying on the effects of alcohol on Gerlach's actions. CP 883.

On extensive motions in limine, CP 938-1175, the court entered lengthy orders. CP 1539-56. The parties argued extensively about the admission of Gerlach's BAC results. RP 219-44. The court indicated its initial inclination to let in this evidence, RP 219-20, 228, but not to allow "speculation" about the effect of Gerlach's intoxication, RP 220-21, even though both Dr. Carhart and Dr. Vincenzi testified that her intoxication profoundly affected her actions at the balcony. CP 782-83. Then, the trial

³ Gerlach did not contest dismissal of her lease contract claim. CP 295.

court indicated it would exclude Gerlach's BAC results, RP 620-26, reaffirming its earlier limitation on the Carhart testimony, and extending the limitation to Dr. Vincenzi. CP 1553.⁴ However, the court later concluded the BAC results were admissible but expert testimony on their meaning would be limited. RP 1329-33.

Belatedly, after the court's ruling on the BAC results, Gerlach's counsel surfaced the idea of a "stipulation" that she was under the influence in lieu of the admission of the BAC results themselves. RP 1335-36. Cove never agreed to such a "stipulation" designed to forestall admission of Gerlach's actual BAC results. RP 1550-60. The trial court accepted Gerlach's one-sided stipulation and barred the BAC results or any Vincenzi testimony whatsoever; the court limited Carhart's testimony as well. RP 1560-64.⁵ The court then told the jury that "the parties" had agreed to a stipulation that Gerlach was intoxicated, when that was untrue.

⁴ Cove made an offer of proof as to Dr. Vincenzi's testimony. RP 1529-44.

⁵ That stipulation severely restricted the scope of witness examination. *E.g.*, RP 2400-04, 2715-18. The trial court deemed Dr. Carhart's testimony on the BAC results to be "speculative." CP 1553. Cove made an offer of proof on Dr. Carhart's testimony regarding the biomechanical impact of Gerlach's extreme intoxication. RP 2973-80.

The trial court also barred defense counsel from playing the portion of Gerlach's deposition in which she *admitted* that she was drunk when she fell. RP 2716-21. The court foreclosed testimony from Miller on Gerlach's intoxication. RP 2400-04. Both Liddell brothers testified that they did not observe or know precisely how much alcohol Gerlach consumed, RP 2629, 2752, making the BAC results even more crucial as the only reliable indicator of Gerlach's actual level of intoxication.

RP 2799-2800. The court indicated that it would correct that misstatement, upon being advised of it by Cove's counsel. RP 2946-47. It then refused to do so. RP 3361-63.

After extensive argument on the issue, RP 986-1007, the trial court compounded its evidentiary error on the RCW 5.40.060 by instructing the jury on Gerlach's voluntary intoxication in general terms only in Instruction 20, CP 1225, refusing to give Cove's instructions on voluntary intoxication based on WPI instructions that informed the jury of the RCW 5.40.060 defense. CP 1223-26.

C. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED⁶

Gerlach fails to document how any of the criteria in RAP 13.4(b)⁷ are met in this case where Division I's unpublished opinion faithfully applies this Court's precedents on the intoxication defense, RAP 13.4(b)(1), and this opinion does not involve a significant issue of public importance. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

(1) <u>Division I Correctly Ruled That the Trial Court Erred in Its</u>
Treatment of Issues Associated with RCW 5.40.060

⁶ If, and only if, this Court grants review, Cove conditionally reserves the right to raise the issues of the admission of Dr. Wickizer's expert testimony, regarding the reasonableness of Gerlach's medical expenses, and the scope of trial on remand. *Lewis River Golf, Inc. v. O.M. Scott & Sons*, 120 Wn.2d 712, 715, 845 P.2d 987 (1993) (parties may conditionally raise issues for review).

⁷ This Court is fully aware of the criteria governing review set forth in RAP 13.4(b).

Gerlach's voluntary intoxication is a defense to any claim she may have against Cove. RCW 5.40.060. *See* Appendix. In numerous decisions, this Court has confirmed that the statute is designed to afford defendants a "complete defense" to any action in which the plaintiff was under the influence of alcohol, that intoxication was a proximate cause of the plaintiff's harm, and the plaintiff was more than 50% at fault.⁸

The trial court hamstrung Cove's presentation of its statutory defense, as Division I recognized, by limiting testimony on the effect of Gerlach's intoxication, excluding evidence of Gerlach's extreme level of intoxication, and instructing the jury on the significance of RCW 5.40.060.

As Division I properly noted, op. at 4-13, the trial court refused to allow Cove to present evidence of Gerlach's *extreme* intoxication at the time of her injury or any expert explanation of that BAC level when her .238 BAC far exceeded the applicable legal limitation for drinking and driving. RCW 46.61.502(1).

⁸ In Geschwind v. Flanagan, 121 Wn.2d 833, 854 P.2d 1061 (1993), this Court applied the statute to a passenger in a car, noting no ambiguity in the statute's clear language and observing: "We are obliged to give the plain language of a statute its full effect, even when its results may seem unduly harsh." Id. at 841. Similarly, in a case involving a girlfriend's assault and battery claim against her boyfriend, the Court stated: "the legislature has chosen to curtail the rights of certain intoxicated persons by enacting RCW 5.40.060." Morgan v. Johnson, 137 Wn.2d 887, 896, 976 P.2d 619 (1999). Recently, in Peralta v. State, 187 Wn.2d 888, 389 P.3d 596 (2017), the Court reaffirmed the broad sweep of the statute in applying it to an intoxicated pedestrian struck by a WSP vehicle while she was on the road, noting yet again that the statute affords a "complete defense." Id. at 897.

BAC Results. Nothing in RCW 5.40.060 restricts or excludes evidence of a plaintiff's alcohol consumption, intoxication, or BAC results. This is because the Legislature *specifically* determined that where a defendant asserts this affirmative defense – that a plaintiff was intoxicated and that intoxication was a proximate cause of her injuries – such evidence *must* be admitted in order to prove the defense. No appellate case has determined that a court may limit a defendant's use of BAC results to document a plaintiff's intoxication in an RCW 5.40.060.9

Indeed, where a plaintiff sues a commercial liquor provider for overserving a patron, this Court now permits admission of the overserved patron's BAC at the time of her/his injury. *Faust v. Albertson*, 167 Wn.2d 531, 222 P.3d 1208 (2009).¹⁰ It should be no different here as such

In Geschwind, for example, both the plaintiff's and the defendant's intoxication were before the jury in determining whether the plaintiff's intoxication was a proximate cause of his injury and whether plaintiff was more than fifty percent at fault. The defense introduced evidence of the plaintiff's 0.17 BAC result to prove proximate cause and comparative fault, and the jury found the plaintiff to be 70% at fault, barred from any recovery under RCW 5.40.060. 121 Wn.2d at 837. The evidence of plaintiff's intoxication and BAC level was presented in Geschwind not only as to whether the plaintiff was intoxicated, but also as to whether the plaintiff's intoxication proximately caused the injury, and to determine the plaintiff's percentage of fault, if any. The issue of contributory negligence is one for the jury. Young v. Caravan Corp., 99 Wn.2d 655, 661, 663 P.2d 834, opinion amended by 672 P.2d 1267 (1983). Limiting Cove to arguing only that Gerlach was "intoxicated" without allowing Cove to present evidence as to the degree of her intoxication and its effect on her actions, effectively deprived Cove of the statute's defense. In Peralta, a case where the plaintiff admitted in requests for admissions that she was under the influence and the trial court so instructed the jury, the State Patrol nevertheless presented additional evidence of Peralta's intoxication. 187 Wn.2d at 900 n.6.

There, the Court specifically found that BAC results were corroborating evidence on the question of whether a person was apparently intoxicated, the test for a

evidence would be supportive of the fact that Gerlach was intoxicated, a point on which Cove had the burden of proof under RCW 5.40.060¹¹ and additionally relevant on the point that Gerlach was so intoxicated that she fell off the balcony due to her own physical limitations, rather than any defect in Cove's balcony.

The central argument *repeatedly* advanced by Gerlach to support review is that Division I's opinion would allow "unverified" BAC results derived from a hospital blood draw to be admitted into evidence. But contending the blood draw was "unverified" is not only inaccurate, but the BAC results were *admissible*. Her contention that blood draws administered by medical staff for medical purposes are somehow unreliable and inadmissible is plainly wrong and misleading. Op. at 9-10. "Extraction of blood samples for testing is a highly effective means of determining the degree to which a person is under the influence of alcohol. Such tests are a commonplace in these days of periodic physical

cause of action against a commercial seller of alcohol by third persons harmed by the drunk. *Id.* at 543 ("BAC evidence is relevant as corroborative and supportive of the credibility of first hand observations."). Gerlach's counsel mistakenly argued to the trial court that BAC results were inadmissible in overservice cases. RP 225-26. The trial court adopted counsel's misinterpretation of *Faust*. RP 620-26.

As this Court noted in *Peralta*, to establish that the plaintiff was under the influence of intoxicating liquor at the time of the accident, the defendant must meet the definition in RCW 46.61.502 that specifically requires proof that the plaintiff's BAC exceeded 0.08. 187 Wn.2d at 894. This plainly made Gerlach's BAC results *relevant* here.

examination." Schmerber v. Cal., 384 U.S. 757, 771, 86 S. Ct. 1826, 16 L. Ed. 2d 908 (1966).

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